THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
SC Workers' Compensation Commission
Appellate Panel

Appellate Case No. 2023-000187

RECEIVED

JAN 08 2024
SC Court of Appeals

Pamela Cartee, Claimant,

v.

SC Judicial Department, Employer,
and State Accident Fund, Carrier,

In Re:

Attorney's Fee Petition of Preston F. McDaniel,
Esquire, and John M. Milling, Esquire,Appellants,

v.

SC Workers' Compensation Commission, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Preston F. McDaniel
MCDANIEL LAW FIRM
1315 Elmwood Avenue
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 771-7211

and

John M. Milling
MILLING LAW FIRM
Post Office Box 519
Darlington, South Carolina 29532

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE CURRENT COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW BY FAILING TO APPROVE THAT PART OF THE CONTESTED ATTORNEY'S FEES WHICH WAS SUBMITTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH LAW, INCLUDING THE STATUTES, COMMISSION REGULATIONS, AND CASE LAW DEFINING THE DATE OF A PERMANENT AWARD AND WHEN ATTORNEY'S FEES ATTACH?

- II. DID THE COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW BASED ON THE RELIABLE, PROBATIVE, AND SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD BEFORE THE COMMISSION BY NOT AWARDING THE DISPUTED PART OF THE ATTORNEY'S FEES AS REQUESTED IN THE APPELLANTS' FEE PETITION?

- III. DID THE CURRENT COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW BY CHANGING THE INTERPRETATION OF THE STATUTES AND REGULATIONS, PARTICULARLY WITHOUT NOTICE TO THE PARTIES AND THE BAR THAT ITS INTERPRETATION HAD CHANGED?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Appeal arises out of the refusal of the Commission to approve a portion of the attorney's fees requested in the Fee Petition signed by the parties December 8, 2017, and submitted to and received by the Commission for approval on December 11, 2017. (R. pp. 247, 253). It does not involve a dispute between the parties to the fee contract, Ms. Cartee and her attorneys, but instead involves a dispute between Claimant's Counsel and the current Commission as to the fee that is appropriate under the Statute, Regulations, case law, and the Commissioner's Award filed April 13, 2017, and affirmed by the Full Commission October 17, 2017. (R. pp. 4-28; 29-48).

At the time Ms. Cartee retained Counsel, only carpal tunnel injuries to both hands had been accepted, but for which further medical care was not being provided. Of note as to the issue of Claimant's Counsel Fees before the Court, Ms. Cartee at that time was being paid at the weekly compensation rate of \$514.39. Immediately upon retention, Counsel determined that the weekly compensation rate was incorrect and obtained an increase in the compensation rate from \$514.29 to \$698.41, a difference of \$184.02 per week. Over the period of the claim and final Award for total and permanent disability, the increase resulted in a difference in compensation to the Claimant of \$92,010.00. If approved, the total fees to Claimant's Counsel including fees

approved based on the underpayment of previously paid weekly benefits and the full amount requested out of the final Award would total \$82,961.43. The total value of the case prior to Counsel's involvement was \$257,195.00; whereas Ms. Cartee received in her pocket \$266,243.57. (R. p. 268).

Due to the efforts of Counsel, including obtaining additional medical care and medical opinion and a Functional Capacity Evaluation, the entirety of the Claimant's hands/arms was accepted, and it was determined that her hands were almost unusable; that she was qualified for less than sedentary work; and in addition, it was determined that her cervical spine was also involved and awarded.

After hearing on September 6, 2016, the Commissioner filed his Award awarding Ms. Cartee total and permanent disability on April 13, 2017 wherein the Hearing Commissioner found that she had reached maximum medical improvement on October 12, 2016 **and** was entitled to the Award for total and permanent disability as of that date, to include the residual value of all weekly compensation benefits, and lifetime medical care for all causally related medical care including the cervical spine, and both arms and hands. In addition, Claimant's Counsel requested that the "Award" be paid in a lump sum which the Commissioner "awarded", and which was to be calculated and with weekly payments to continue until such calculation was made with such

weekly payments constituting payment towards the "Award" which attached as of October 12, 2016 for total and permanent disability representing the residual value of 500 weeks of compensation as of that date. (R. pp. 4-28). (Emp. add.).

The "Award" was appealed to the Full Commission which was not heard until August 22, 2017 with an Order affirming the Commissioner's "Award" totally being filed October 17, 2017. (Emp. add.). After the thirty (30) day appeal time ran, on December 8th the Appellants submitted their Fee Petition which forwarded to the Commissioner for review/approval December 11th. (R. pp. 247, 253).

In their Fee Petition, the Appellants requested approval of a fee based on the "Award" of total and permanent disability as of the date of the "Award" on October 12, 2016, which "Award" totaled \$220,283.33 (weekly checks greater than 10/12/16 and the lump sum). While Claimant's Counsel could have requested a fee of 1/3rd of that amount, \$73,427.78, the Appellants requested approval of a fee of \$73,094.45. Although Reg. 67-1204(F) mandates immediate approval/disapproval of a Fee Petition or that the Commissioner "shall immediately schedule a hearing ..."; no decision was made on the Fee Petition in any regard until January 9, 2018. (Emp. add.). Between December 8th and January 9th numerous emails and telephone calls, and actually three (3) personal visits to the Commission were made to

determine the status of approval of the attorney's fees as requested. (R. pp. 254-277). Without explanation on January 9th by email the Commissioner approved a fee of \$59,632.69. (R. p. 266). After attempts were made, Appellants had to request the hearing that was supposed to have been scheduled immediately upon the submission of a Fee for approval if there were any questions. (R. pp. 269-270). That hearing was not set until February 12, 2018. The Hearing Notice for that hearing, although being an ancillary proceeding involving a statutory/regulatory requirement of Commission of approval of attorney's fees, in addition to the Claimant and Appellants, was served on the Defendants and their attorney who waived appearance as they were not involved in this issue. In addition, Ms. Cartee wrote a letter and waived her appearance and in her January 25th letter, after laudatory praise of her attorneys and noting full knowledge, explanation and understanding of the Fee, in part stated:

"Personally, I do not see a reason for this hearing. This hearing should be dismissed, and attorney's fees approved." (R. p. 274).

At the hearing after accepting Counsel's statements made as an Officer of the Court and hearing argument reviewing the case law and Regulations, the Commissioner did not give or state on the Record any reason for disapproving a portion of the attorney's fees. (R. pp. 231-233).

Subsequent to a request for the Commissioner to put his position on the Record, on February 21st he entered an Interim Order stating that the request for the balance of the attorney's fees in the amount of \$13,461.76 was under review. (R. p. 49). On March 6, 2018, the Commissioner issued an Order again denying the contested part of the attorney's fees and citing as a reason the Regulation and his interpretation of the Regulation and setting out his interpretation. (R. pp. 50-51). The Appellants then filed both an appeal to the Full Commission to review the attorney's fees requested for approval and a Declaratory Judgment action in the Circuit Court asking for a declaration of rights under law interpreting the Statute, Regulations and case law in reference to when the "Award" of total and permanent disability became the permanent "Award", and questioning whether the process before the Commission was in accordance with law. After a Temporary Restraining Order, a hearing, and the Temporary Restraining Order was lifted, the matter was remanded to the Full Commission so the Commission could rule on the Request for Review. (R. pp. 52-54; pp. 111-127).

Subsequently, the Appellants filed their Brief to the Full Commission and a hearing was held on May 21, 2018. No Brief was filed by the Commission, Commission Counsel, or any other party nor was any appearance made at the hearing held on May 21st which was held en banc. (R. pp. 55; 128-136). The Vote Sheets reflect

that four (4) Commissioners voted to "affirm" the Hearing Commissioner's Decision as written, and two issued a separate opinion concurring in part and dissenting in part. (R. pp. 296-301). Although simply voting to affirm, Commissioner T. Scott Beck and General Counsel for the Commission were assigned to write the Order for the Full Commission.

Although Commission Regulations (Reg. 67-709(E)(2)) require that any modifications to a Hearing Commissioner's Decision are to be entered on the Vote Sheets, and while four (4) Commissioners simply voted to affirm the Hearing Commissioner's Decision, a totally separate Full Commission Order was issued setting out twenty-two (22) Findings of Fact, twenty-eight (28) Conclusions of Law, and an separate Order affirming the Hearing Commissioner's Decision with a separate Opinion concurring and dissenting in part being entered by two (2) Commissioners. That Order was served on Mr. McDaniel via email on May 30th but was not served on Mr. Milling. (R. pp. 55-74). On May 31st, the Appellants notified the Commission of that and their intent to file for Rehearing and filed a request for rehearing on June 25, 2018. (R. pp. 293-294; pp. 295-301; pp. 137-156).

Subsequently in the Declaratory Judgment Action after the filing of an Amended Complaint to include the Full Commission Decision after Remand with the same case law, statutes, and Regulations; and after Motions by the Commission to dismiss were

denied, an Order was entered granting the Appellants full discovery to include depositions and all documentation from the Commission; after which the parties entered into mediation. (R. pp. 178-217). As a result of the Mediation and based on Mr. Milling having not been served with the original Order on May 30, 2018, it was agreed that proper service of the May 30, 2018 Full Commission Order would be made and the Defendant, SC Workers' Compensation Commission, would accept a timely filed Motion for Rehearing pursuant to Regulation 67-215 for disposition en banc before the Commission and the parties agreed the issue on rehearing would be confined to the Plaintiffs' request for attorney's fees. The Plaintiffs, Appellants in this Court, agreed to voluntarily dismiss the Circuit Court action with prejudice.

A timely Motion for Rehearing was served on June 10th to the Order served June 6th (R. pp. 75-95; 158-168). The Appellants relied on their original Brief submitted both to the Full Commission for review in 2018, and as set forth in the Motion for Rehearing filed at that time; and in addition, submitted an Affidavit of Appellant Preston F. McDaniel in support of facts contained in the original Brief, Motion filed in 2018, and in the rehearing Motion. (R. pp. 169-173). No Brief or any other documentation was submitted to the Commission on behalf of the

Commission or any party, and at the hearing held en banc September 19th, the only appearance that was made was by the Appellants who again made argument in support of their request for approval of attorney's fees as to the remaining portion of the attorney's fees that had not been approved. (R. p. 236-245). The Decision, of the Full Commission on the Petition and Motion for Rehearing, with again four (4) members voting to affirm the original Hearing Commissioner's Decision with the same two (2) other Commissioners entering the same separate Opinion dissenting in part and concurring in part. (R. pp. 96-101).

When the Notes for the Decision of the Commission were entered, the Order was assigned to Staff Counsel to write, although this was a matter involving approval or disapproval by the Commission under its Statutory authority over attorney's fees, which is an exception to the Code of Professional Conduct and contrary to general contract law. The Order was entered on January 4, 2023 and this appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In addition to the facts and procedural history in the Statement of the Case, to reiterate briefly, Ms. Pamela Cartee was on a running Award, meaning that she was receiving weekly compensation checks in the amount of \$698.41 per week at the time of the hearing at which she was awarded total and permanent

disability. Those checks in the amount of \$698.41 had been increased due to the efforts of Counsel from \$514.39, for a difference of \$184.02, thus resulting in an overall difference over the 500 weeks of the Award of \$92,010.00. In the Hearing Commissioner's Award entered on April 13, 2017, based on a hearing held on September 6, 2016, the Hearing Commissioner entered a Finding of Fact #25:

"I find the Claimant reached maximum medical improvement on October 12, 2016" (R. p. 24),

and he also found that as of that date that she was entitled to an Award for total and permanent disability and awarded her lifetime medical care for all causally related medical care. In the Award, he specifically held that the Claimant was entitled to an Award for total and permanent disability, and

"the Claimant is entitled to the payment of continuing weekly compensation benefits in the amount of \$698.41 and continuing until 500 weeks of compensation have been paid." (Emp. add.). (R. p. 26).

The Commissioner also granted the Claimant's request for the Award to be paid in a lump sum and ordered that the:

"residual lump sum Award shall be calculated by the Commission pursuant to this Award". (R. p. 27).

He further ordered that a Supplemental Order would be issued confirming that:

"said lump sum is being paid in lieu of the Claimant's entitlement to weekly compensation

benefits being paid to the Claimant for the remainder of her life." (R. p. 27).

Weekly payments continued after September 6, 2016 through the date of the Award on April 13, 2017, and until the lump sum was paid. The Award was appealed to the Full Commission on which a hearing was held on August 22, 2017 and on October 17, 2017 the Full Commission Panel issued an Order affirming the Hearing Commissioner's decision in total. The Commission specifically affirmed all of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law of the Hearing Commissioner in its Order. (R. pp. 55-74). The Defendant did not appeal that Order and in the Fee Petition, Form 61, and accompanying Itemized Disbursement Statement the Appellants noted that the date of the "Award" of PTD/MMI (permanent total disability and maximum medical improvement) was October 12, 2016. The Appellants then noted in their Petition that payment on the Award had been made from October 12, 2016 through December 1st in the approximate amount of \$41,206.19, and that the commuted value as calculated by the Commission was \$179,077.14, thus resulting in a total and permanent disability, "Award" totaling \$220,283.33, of which the Claimant's Counsel requested less than 1/3rd and requested a fee of \$73,094.45.

As noted in the Statement of the Case, at no hearing either before the Hearing Commissioner, the Full Commission, or before the Full Commission on Reconsideration and Rehearing was any

Brief, legal memorandum, or even an appearance made by a member of the Commission Staff or any party on behalf of the Commission setting forth a contrary legal opinion and legal interpretation of the Statutes, Regulations, and case law of that of the Appellants.

In addition, submitted into the Record was an Affidavit from the Appellant, Preston F. McDaniel, noting that he had been a participant at the Wampee Conference on workers' compensation in the 1980s; and that he had served as a Claimant's Representative on the Review Committee of the newly adopted SC Workers' Compensation Regulations which were adopted in 1990 which resulted in the Attorney's Fees Regulations, currently Reg. 67-1201-1207. Additionally, in his capacity in reference to the SC Trial Lawyers Association, and SC Claimant Lawyers Association, now the SC Association for Justice and SC Injured Workers Advocates, respectively, Appellant McDaniel had served on every legislative review committee since 1990, including the 2007 Workers' Compensation Reform Act. He also had served as the only Claimant's Representative to Governor Sanford's Workers' Compensation Reform Committee.

Additionally and importantly, he set forth in the Affidavit that the Fee Petition submitted in this matter and the basis of calculation of the contingency fee agreement and the date on which the attorney's fees attached under the Award and under the

Statutes, Regulations, and case law was the date of maximum medical improvement, which is the date that the Award transitioned from that of being a temporary weekly compensation Award to being an Award of permanent compensation. That Affidavit also set forth that the fee petition was identical to hundreds that he had presented to the Commission over the years including fee petitions that had been submitted to and approved by current members of the current Commission, and specifically noting that identical fee petitions had been approved by Commissioners McCaskill, Wilkerson, James, Campbell and Barden. (R. pp. 170-173).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE CURRENT COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY FAILING TO APPROVE THAT PART OF THE CONTESTED ATTORNEY'S FEES WHICH WAS SUBMITTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH LAW, INCLUDING THE STATUTES, COMMISSION REGULATIONS, AND CASE LAW DEFINING THE DATE OF A PERMANENT AWARD AND WHEN ATTORNEY'S FEES ATTACH.

While there are several cases on point, the Supreme Court in the case of Smith v. SC Dept. of Mental Health & State Accident Fund, 335 S.C. 396, 517 S.E.2d 694 (1999), Justice Waller writing for a united Court held as to when the payment of temporary disability benefits transitions to that of an "Award" of permanent disability benefits, quoting:

"The rational for ceasing temporary benefits upon a finding of MMI is to permit entry of a permanent **Award**. See: Hines v. Hendrix Canning Co., 263 S.C. 399, 211 S.E.2d 220 (1975) (noting that degree of permanent disability cannot be

determined prior to MMI). Clearly, if an employee has reached MMI and remains disabled, then his injury is permanent. This is precisely the reason to terminate temporary benefits in favor of permanent benefits upon the finding of MMI."

The Supreme Court went on to note that this Court had repeatedly held the same that once the Commission makes a Finding of maximum medical improvement it is appropriate to terminate temporary disability benefits in favor of an Award of permanent disability benefits. Then in the case of Curriel v. Environmental Management Services, 376 S.C. 23, 655 S.E.2d 482 (2007) and quoting from the Court:

"Essentially, workers' compensation benefits accrue along a time continuum: temporary total disability benefits are available from the date of the injury through the date of maximum medical improvement; post-MMI benefits may be awarded either as a permanent total or partial disability, or as a percentage of impairment to a scheduled member. Smith v. NCCI, Inc., 369 S.C. 336, 631 S.E.2d 268 (SC App. 2006). Accordingly, the date of maximum medical improvement signals the end of entitlement to temporary total benefits." (Emp. add.)

Thus, the date of maximum medical improvement is the date that benefits transition from being the payment of temporary disability benefits to that of payment of a permanent Award, if one is justified. This is also in accord with the numerous cases addressing the date back to which benefits are payable in reference to penalties, fines and judgment interest under an "Award" of the Commission. Those cases and dates are best

summarized in Supreme Court's decision in Case v. Hermitage Cotton Mills, 336 S.C. 515, 115 S.E.2d 57 (1960). Payments are due to be paid back to and from the date of the "Award".

SC Code of Regulations, Reg. 67-1205 (which Appellants would note has not been amended since its original implementation in 1990), under subsection (C) of that Regulation provides that an attorney may charge up to but not more than a 33.3% of the total amount of compensation; and subsection (C) (2) in pertinent part provides that:

"If the attorney secures the payment of permanent disability later, the attorney may charge, according to these Regulations, up to but not more than 33.3% of the settlement or Award."
(Emp. add.).

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