RECEIVED

Jan 02 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Case No. 2023-000187

Pamela Cartee, Claimant,

v.

SC Judicial Department, Employer, and State Accident
Fund, Carrier

In Re: Attorney's Fee Petition of Preston F. McDaniel, Esquire, and
John M. Milling, Esquire,

Appellants,

v.

South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Greg Harris, SC Bar # 7859
Harris & Gasser, LLC
1529 Laurel Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803)-779-7080

John L. Warren III, SC Bar #101414
Law Office of Bill Nettles
2008 Lincoln Street

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

¹⁰ Counsel for the Employer and Carrier did not appear at the hearing and took no position on Appellants’ petition for attorneys. (*See* R. pp. 219–34).

“composed of a judicial and administrative department”), 42-3-20(C) (detailing the types of matters that may come before the Commission “for judicial disposition”).

Appellants improperly and unilaterally named the Commission as the Respondent in their Notice of Appeal. The Commission was not a party in the proceedings below¹¹ and is not the “adverse party” in this appeal. *See* Rule 202(a), SCACR (“The party appealing shall be known as the appellant and the adverse party as the respondent.”). Respectfully, Appellants fundamentally misunderstand the role of the Commission in resolving petitions for attorneys’ fees. In their brief, Appellants state:

[A]t no hearing either before the Hearing Commissioner, the Full Commission, or before the Full Commission on Reconsideration and Rehearing was any Brief, legal memorandum, or even an appearance made by a member of the Commission Staff or any party on behalf of the Commission setting forth a contrary legal opinion and legal interpretation of the Statutes, Regulations, and case law of that of the Appellants.

(Appellants’ Br. p. 14). The Commission is *not* a party who supports or opposes a claimant’s attorney’s application for attorneys’ fees. Rather, the Commission is the Administrative Tribunal that is responsible, by statute and regulation, for the “judicial disposition” of petitions for attorneys’ fees. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 42-3-20(C); S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-1204.

Indeed, Appellants’ improper joinder of the Commission to this appeal is unprecedented and lacks any legal support. In their Return to the Commission’s Motion to Certify, Appellants cited to six appellate cases where the Commission was a named party. But each of these cases is

¹¹ Appellants never sought to join the Commission as a party before the Single Commissioner or the Full Commission. Notwithstanding the fact that the Commission *cannot* be a party to its own judicial proceedings, Appellants’ failure to seek joinder before the Commission is fatal to their attempt to join the Commission on appeal. *See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”).

readily distinguishable, and none involve a dispute about attorneys' fees. A brief summary of each case follows:

- *S.C. Indus. Comm'n v. Progressive Life Insurance Co.*, 242 S.C. 547, 131 S.E.2d 694 (1963): The Industrial Commission affirmatively issued an order to show cause why Progressive Life Insurance Company “should not be required to conform to the provisions of the South Carolina Workmen’s Compensation Act.” *Id.* at 549–50, 131 S.E.2d at 694. These enforcement actions are initiated by the Commission’s administrative department and are authorized by statute and regulation. *See, e.g.*, S.C. Code Ann. § 42-5-40; S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-1404.
- *Blue Cross and Blue Shield v. S.C. Indus. Comm’n*, 274 S.C. 204, 262 S.E.2d 35 (1980): Blue Cross and Blue Shield of South Carolina—a health insurer—filed a declaratory judgment action against the Industrial Commission in the Circuit Court, seeking “a determination that it is entitled (1) to participate in proceedings before the Commission when the employee-claimant holds one of its policies, and (2) that it has a right of access to records within the control of the Commission.” *Id.* at 205, 262 S.E.2d at 36.
- *S.C. Workers’ Comp. Comm’n v. Ray Covington Realtors, Inc.*, 318 S.C. 546, 459 S.E.2d 302 (1995): A real estate broker appealed an order of the Commission, which awarded benefits to a salesperson. *Id.* at 547, 459 S.E.2d at 302. The Supreme Court reversed the Commission and Circuit Court and found that the salesperson was an independent contractor and, thus, not entitled to benefits under the Act. *See id.* The Commission was named as a Respondent in the appeal. However, the Commission was only a party in this appeal because the Commission’s Division of Coverage and Compliance issued an Order to Show Cause as to the real estate broker’s failure to maintain workers’ compensation coverage.¹² (*See* Excerpts of Record of Appeal from *S.C. Workers’ Comp. Comm’n v. Ray Covington Realtors, Inc.*, No. 24265 (S.C. Sup. Ct.), p. 20).¹³ By order of the Commission, this compliance action was consolidated with the salesperson’s claim for benefits, and the Commission and the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Uninsured Employers’ Fund were “joined as parties in the adjudication of the claim.” (*Id.* p. 19). Because the Supreme Court

¹² The Division of Coverage and Compliance is a part of the Commission’s administrative department. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 42-3-90. The Act and the Commission’s regulations permit the Division of Coverage and Compliance to commence enforcement actions and assess fines and penalties. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 42-5-40; S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-1402. The Commissioners—who are tasked with resolving these contested enforcement matters—are strictly prohibited from having any *ex parte* communications with the Commission’s administrative department. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-360 (prohibiting “members or employees of an agency assigned to render a decision or to make findings of fact and conclusions of law in a contested case” from communicating with “any person or party . . . except upon notice and opportunity for all parties to participate”).

¹³ Out of an abundance of caution, the Commission has filed a Motion for Judicial Notice with excerpts of the Record on Appeal from *Ray Covington Realtors, Inc.*

held that the salesperson was an independent contractor, the enforcement action was mooted.

- *Lester v. S.C. Workers' Comp. Comm'n*, 328 S.C. 535, 493 S.E.2d 103 (Ct. App. 1997), *aff'd in part and rev'd in part*, 334 S.C. 557, 514 S.E.2d 751 (S.C. 1999): The Commission affirmatively issued an order to show cause "direct[ing] Lester to appear and show cause why he should not be found in violation of the provisions of the Act for failing to maintain workers' compensation insurance" *Id.* at 538, 493 S.E. 2d at 105. These enforcement actions are initiated by the Commission's administrative department and are authorized by statute and regulation. *See, e.g.*, S.C. Code Ann. § 42-5-40; S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-1404.
- *Morris v. S.C. Workers' Comp. Comm'n*, 370 S.C. 85, 634 S.E.2d 651 (2006): A group of court reporters brought a Circuit Court action against the Commission, "challenging their termination as full-time State employees" *Id.* at 86, 634 S.E.2d at 651.
- *S.C. Ambulatory Surgery Ctr. Ass'n v. S.C. Workers' Comp. Comm'n*, 389 S.C. 380, 699 S.E.2d 146 (2010): "[S]everal ambulatory surgery centers and their trade association . . . challenged the revised schedule for maximum allowable payments to outpatient medical providers approved by the Commission." *Id.* at 382, 699 S.E.2d at 148. This case was filed in Circuit Court under the Administrative Procedures Act ("APA") and sought injunctive relief. *Id.* at 385, 699 S.E.2d at 149.

Contrary to Appellants' arguments, these cases provide *no support* for joining the Commission as the Respondent in this appeal. In each of the cases discussed above, the Commission was properly named as a party in the lower court. More importantly, *none* of the cases named the Commission, in its judicial capacity, as a party. Rather, each case involves the Commission as an employer, an administrative enforcement body, or an agency subject to an action under the APA or for declaratory relief.

Put simply, a party who loses a judicial proceeding before the Commission or any other Administrative Tribunal cannot name the Administrative Tribunal as a party-Respondent on appeal. To allow such conduct would be unprecedented and would improperly require the Commission to defend its final judicial decision *as a party* on appeal to the courts. *Cf. McEachern v. Black*, 329 S.C. 642, 647, 496 S.E.2d 659, 661–62 (Ct. App. 1998) ("Without judicial immunity, losing parties would vent their ire on the presiding judge. Court dockets would explode and those willing

to expose themselves to the lawsuit-prone job of judge would cower under the constant threat of legal retribution for good-faith errors.”). This would frustrate the Commission’s statutory requirement to approve attorneys’ fees. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-90.

D. The Commission has no legally cognizable interest in the outcome of this appeal.

As an objective judicial decisionmaker, the Commission has no vested interest in Appellants’ attorneys’ fees dispute. The Employer and Carrier have already paid the award, including the \$13,461.76 in disputed attorneys’ fees, to Appellants. Those funds are not—and never have been—in the possession of the Commission. If the Court affirms the Commission’s decision, Appellants will disburse those funds to the Claimant or Claimant will retain the funds if they have already been disbursed.¹⁴ If Appellants prevail, they will retain the funds or Claimant will be required to remit the funds if they have already been disbursed.¹⁵ But there is *no relief* that can be awarded to Appellants from the Commission, as the Commission has never possessed the disputed funds. The Commission, as the judicial body in this case, takes no position as to what party Appellants should have named in their Notice of Appeal. However, in another case pending before this Court involving entitlement to contingency attorneys’ fees, the claimant named the employer and carrier as Respondents. *See* Final Br. of Appellant, *Starnes v. Meritage Asset Mgmt., Inc. d/b/a Century Glass & Insurance Co. of the West*, No. 2022-001595 (S.C. Ct. App. April 12, 2023).¹⁶

¹⁴ It is unclear whether Appellants have already disbursed the disputed funds to the Claimant. (*See* R. p. 88 (ordering Appellants to certify in writing that the funds have been paid to Claimant)).

¹⁵ This highlights the inherent conflict of interest that this case raises between Claimant and Appellants.

¹⁶ “A court can take judicial notice of its own records, files and proceedings for all proper purposes including facts established in its records.” *Freeman v. McBee*, 280 S.C. 490, 494, 313 S.E.2d 325, 327 (Ct. App. 1984).

E. The Commission is ethically prohibited from being a party to this appeal.

Finally, the Commission is ethically prohibited from being a party to this appeal. By statute, the Commissioners “are bound by the Code of Judicial Conduct, as contained in Rule 501 of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-3-250(A). While acting in a judicial capacity, a Commissioner shall “hear and decide matters assigned to the judge except those in which disqualification is required.” Rule 3B(1), CJC, Rule 501, SCACR. The Code of Judicial Conduct specifically requires a judge to disqualify himself when the judge is a party to the proceeding. *See* Rule 3E(1)(d)(i), CJC, Rule 501, SCACR. If, as Appellants argue, the Commission was a party to petitions for attorneys’ fees, every Commissioner would be ethically disqualified from hearing these proceedings.¹⁷ *See id.* This would prevent the Commission from complying with its statutory requirement to approve fees following independent and impartial review. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-90.

II. The Commission correctly denied Appellants’ request for an additional \$13,461.76 in attorneys’ fees.

Before the Commission, Appellants claimed that they were entitled to 33.3% of all benefits paid to the Claimant after she reached MMI on October 12, 2016, including weekly benefits that she received during the pendency of the parties’ cross-appeals of the Single Commissioner’s April 13, 2017, decision. The Commission disagreed. The Commission held that Claimant’s “award of compensation was not ‘secure’ until [Appellants] successfully defended the award to finality.” (R.

¹⁷ Moreover, Appellants named the Commission’s General Counsel and Staff Attorney as counsel for the Respondent in their Notice of Appeal. These attorneys did not represent the Commission, as a party, below. Rather, they were “court personnel,” as defined in the Code of Judicial Conduct, who served in a judicial law clerk role to assist the Commission. *See* Terminology, CJC, Rule 501, SCACR; Rule 3B(7)(c), CJC, Rule 501, SCACR. It is unprecedented to call upon a judge’s law clerk to defend that judge’s decision on appeal.

pp. 83–84) (citing S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-1205(C)(2)). The Commission found that finality occurred when the Employer and Carrier’s time to appeal the Full Commission expired—i.e., November 16, 2017.¹⁸ (R. p. 77). Two Commissioners dissented in part and would have concluded that Appellants’ attorneys’ fees are calculated from the date of the Full Commission’s decision—October 17, 2017. (*See* R. pp. 88–89). Thus, *every Commissioner* rejected Appellants’ argument.¹⁹

Appellants raise three arguments on appeal. First, Appellants contend that the Commission committed an error of law by failing to approve Appellants’ petition for an additional \$13,461.76 in attorneys’ fees. Second, Appellants argue that the Commission’s decision is contrary to the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence in the record. Finally, Appellants contend that the Commission committed an error of law by changing its interpretation of the Act and the Commission’s regulations.

As detailed above, the Commission is *not* a party to Appellants’ petition for attorneys’ fees and is legally and ethically prohibited from defending its decision on appeal. However, if the Court reaches the merits of the Commission’s decision, the Court should affirm. The Commission’s decision faithfully applies the Act and the Commission’s regulations and is well-supported by the evidence in the record.

¹⁸ A party may file an appeal from the Commission to the Court of Appeals “within thirty days from the date of the award or within thirty days after receipt of notice to be sent by registered mail of the award, but not after, whichever is longest” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-60.

¹⁹ The Commission’s split decision highlights another reason why it *cannot be* a party to this appeal.

A. Standard of Review

“Judicial review of a Workers’ Compensation decision is governed by the substantial evidence rule of the Administrative Procedures Act.”²⁰ *Pratt v. Morris Roofing, Inc.*, 353 S.C. 339, 344, 577 S.E.2d 475, 477 (Ct. App. 2003). “In an appeal from the Commission, this Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Commission as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse where the decision is affected by an error of law.” *Id.* In determining whether there was an error of law, this Court must give the Commission’s interpretation of its own regulations “great deference.” *Earl v. HTH Assocs., Inc./Ace Usa Ins. Co. of N. Am.*, 368 S.C. 76, 81, 627 S.E.2d 760, 762 (Ct. App. 2006); *see* S.C. Code Ann. § 42-3-180 (“All questions arising under [the Act], if not settled by agreement of the parties interested therein with the approval of the commission, shall be determined by the commission, except as otherwise provided in [the Act].”).

B. The Commission’s decision is correct under the Act, the Commission’s regulations, and governing caselaw.

All attorneys’ fees in workers’ compensation matters must be approved by the Commission. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-90. The Commission has the authority to implement policies and procedures as to the approval of attorneys’ fees. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 42-3-185. However, those policies or procedures “shall become effective only when such implementation is accomplished by regulations promulgated in accordance with the Administrative Procedures Act, which proposed regulations shall have before promulgation received approval of the Judiciary Committees of the Senate and House of Representatives and also by concurrent Resolution of the General Assembly.” *Id.*

²⁰ *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5).

The Commission enacted, with the appropriate legislative approval, Regulation 67-1205, which governs the approval of contingent attorneys' fees. *See* S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-1205. A contingent fee contract is deemed reasonable when the following requirements are satisfied, and the requested fee is not in conflict with the Rules of Professional Conduct:

- (1) The attorney fully explains the fee agreement to the client and informs the client of the total dollar amount of the fee that will be deducted from the client's benefits; and
- (2) The client agrees to the fee by signing a completed Form 61; and
- (3) The attorney calculates the fee according to [Regulation 67-1205(C).]

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